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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lancaster, Kentucky (the City), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 



Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position, and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion 
and analysis, budgetaiy comparison information, historical pensjon information, and historical other post­
employment benefit information on pages 3 through 8 and 38 through 43 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an approptiate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the infonnation and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code ~f F'ederal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. 

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Tn our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 15, 2021, on our 
consideration of the City's internal control over·financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial repm1ing or 
on compliance. That repo11 is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Kerbaugh, Rodes & Butler, PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Danville, Kentucky 
April 15, 2021 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

The management team for the City of Lancaster (the City) presents this narrative to help our readers review the 
accompanying annual financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020. We have prepared this overview 
and analysis of the City's financial activities to add additional infonnation to the financial schedules and the note 
disclosures. Our analysis will examine the financial highlights for this fiscal year and help explain the format for 
our readers. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

► As of June 30, 2020 the City's Assets (page 9) exceeded liabilities by $5,399,910. This amount includes 
$1,517,829 of resources that are restricted to specific projects by laws, regulations, or contractual 
agreements. The City has an unrestricted deficit net position of ($1,054,106) as of June 30, 2020, 
primarily related to the City's net pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities aud related 
deferrals. 

► Unrestricted cash and investment balances (page 9) as of June 30, 2020 were $759,439 and current 
liabilities payable from unrestricted resou1ces were $1,010,183. 

► Net position decreased by $1,011,445 (page 10). 
► Fund balances (A measure of current financial resources) in the governmental funds decreased 

$101,037 to $254,012 (page 13). Of this amount $100,370 (page 11) is unassigned and available for 
future programs, $150,989 is restricted to use for municipal road aid expenditures, and $2,653 is 
committed to use for planning and zoning activities. 

► The general fund unassigned fund balance (page 11), as of June 30, 2020 was $100,370 or about 4% of 
total general fund expenditures. 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to introduce the City's basic financial statements. Basic financial 
statements include three major sections: I) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 
and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information to provide 
additional information that our readers can use to analyze our finances. 

Government-wide financial statements - The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide 
our readers with an overview of the City's finances, presenting all funds in a more simplified format. This 
section is similar to financial reporting used by commercial entities. 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the City's assets and liabilities, including long-term 
debt and capital assets in the governmental funds. The difference between assets and liabilities is reported as net 
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as transactions occur, regardless of when 
the related cash flows are reported. Therefore, some revenues and expenses included in this statement may 
reflect cash flows that actually occur in future periods. 

Government-wide statements are separated into two major categories: I) governmental activities that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovermnental revenues, and 2) business-type activities that are supported 
with user fees and charges. Governmental activities include administrative functions, streets, police, fire, 
recreation and community programs. Business-type activities include the water fund and the sewer fund. 

The government-wide statements are found on pages 9 and 10 of this report. 

Fund financial statements - Funds are used in governmental accounting to separate resources that are 
designated for specific programs or activities. The City, like other state and local governments uses fund 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

accounting to demonstrate compliance with the laws, regulations, and contractual agreements that establish the 
authority for the City's programs and services. Governments use three types of funds: governmental, proprietary, 
and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds - Funds are used to account for the City's basic services, the same services that are 
included in the governmental activities on the government-wide statements. However, the information in the 
fund statements is measw-ed differently. Governmental funds focus on current financial resources rather than 
economic resources. Therefore, the statements include the short-term resources, such as cash, investments, 
receivables that will be collected in the next few months, and liabilities that will be retired with these monies. 
This infortnation is important for assessing the City's current financial resources. 

The reconciliation in the fund statements explains the difference between the governmental funds in the fund 
statements and the governmental activities found in the government-wide financial statements. These 
reconciliations are presented on pages 12 and 14 in the fund statements. These reconciliations will explain the 
adjustments necessary to add the long-term resources and liabilities for the government-wide statements to the 
current picture presented in the fund statements. 

The City maintains three individual governmental funds. Major governmental funds include the General Fund 
and Municipal Road Aid Fund. The Municipal Road Aid Fund is presented as a major fund this year because it 
includes significant grant funding from the Commonwealth of Kentucky that provided critical resources for our 
community. 

The larger funds are presented on pages 11 and 13 as major funds. The governmental fund statements include a 
balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. 

The City adopts budgets for all funds in accordance with Kentucky Revised Statutes Section 91A.030. The 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund and Municipal Road Aid Fund are presented on pages 38 and 39. 

Proprietary funds - The City's proprietary funds include two enterprise funds. The enterprise funds include 
operations for the water utility and tile sewer utility. The water and sewer funds are presented as major funds on 
pages IS through 18. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detai I. 

Notes to the financial statements - Notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the information included in the financial schedules. Notes provide additional details about the balances and 
transactions in the City's financial statements and are presented on pages 19 through 37. 

Other information - The last section of this report includes supplementary information. Required 
supplementary J,zformation must be included to conform to generally accepted accounting principles. The 
budgetary comparisons for the General and Municipal Road Aid Fund, the Management's Discussion and 
Analysis, the net pension liability information, and the net other post-employment benefit information are 
classified as required supplementary information. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 

The first statement in the government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position. The following table 
summarizes the Statement of Net Position (page 9). 

Net Position of Governmental and Business-type Activities (in thousands) 

Current and other assets 

Capital assets 

Total assets 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Long-tenn debt outstanding 

Net pension 1iability 

Net OPEB liability 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Defened inflows of resources 

Net position: 

Invested in capital assets, net 

of related debt 

Resti;cted 

Unrestricted (deficit) 

Total Net Position 

$ 

$ 

Governmental 
Activities 

2020 

625 

1,525 

2,150 

943 

JOO 

2,162 

568 

354 

3,184 

315 

1,425 

151 

(1,982) 

$ 

2019 

566 $ 

1,393 

1,959 

783 

1,698 

525 

193 

2,416 

290 

1,393 

216 

(1,573) 

Business-type 
Activ1ties 

2020 

2,048 

13,358 

15,406 

690 

7,847 

1,328 

304 

655 

10,134 

156 

5,511 

1,367 

(1,072) 

$ 

2019 

2,123 

9,641 

11,764 

490 

4,160 

987 

261 

355 

5,763 

116 

5,480 

1,519 

(624) 

$ 

Total 

2020 

2,673 

14,883 

17,556 

1,633 

7,947 

3,490 

872 

1,009 

13,318 

471 

6,936 

1,518 

(3,054) 

$ 

2019 

2,689 

11,034 

13,723 

1,273 

4,160 

2,685 

786 

548 

8,179 

406 

6,873 

1,735 

(2,197) 

(406) $ 36 $ 5,806 $ 6,375 $ 5,400 $ 6,411 

By far the largest portion of the City's net position (128%) reflects its investment in capital assets, less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide 
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's 
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. $1,366,840 of the City's net position (page 9) are restricted to comply with provisions of various 
laws, regulations, and contractual agreements. Restricted funds in the business-type activities reflect the reserves 
required by the water and sewer bond and loan covenants. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

The second statement in the government-wide statements is the Statement of Activities. The following table 
outlines the major components of this statement. 

Change in Net Position of Governmental and Business-type Activities (in thousands) 

Revenues: 

Program revenues:: 

Charges for services 

Operating grants and contributions 

Capital grants and contributions 

General revenues: 

Property taxes 

License fees and permits 

Fines and fodeitures 

Interest and investment earnings 

Miscellaneous 

Sale of asset-g;iin 

Total Revenues 

Program Expenses: 

General Government 

Public Safety 

Public Services 

Water 

Sewer system 

Interest expense 

Total Expenses 

Excess (deficiency) before transfers 
and special items 

Increase (decrease) in net position 

$ 

$ 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities 

Total 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

549 $ 

321 

431 $ 2,333 $ 2,245 $ 2,882 $ 2,676 

413 

892 

24 

33 

39 

2,272 

801 

1,764 

149 

2,714 

(442) 

(442) $ 

145 

408 

883 

19 

28 

59 

1,974 

790 

1,543 

87 

2,421 

(447) 

(447) $ 

7 

49 

2,389 

2,221 

738 

2,959 

(570) 

(570) $ 

2 

14 

2,261 

1,863 

694 

2,557 

(296) 

321 

413 

892 

24 

8 

82 

39 

4,661 

801 

1,764 

149 

2,221 

738 

5,673 

(1,012) 

(296) $ (1,012) $ 

145 

408 

883 

19 

3 

42 

59 

4,235 

790 

1,543 

87 

1,863 

694 

4,978 

(743) 

(743) 

Governmental services in the amount of$1,305,623 are fmanced wiih taxes, license fees, and interest earnings. 

Governmental activities decreased the City's net position by $442,075. This is primarily the result of pension 
and OPEB expense recognized during 2020 for the change in liabilities and related deferrals ($371,770). 

Business-type activities decreased the City's net position by $569,370. This decrease is net of depreciation 
expense of$453,851 (a non-cash item). 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds 

The fund statements present the City's financial information in a more detailed format, but there are other 
differences as well. Fund statements provide important information about the City's compliance with laws and 
regulations that define the local government environment in Kentucky. The measurement principles in the 
governmental fund statements are also different than the government-wide statements. Fund statements focus on 
current resources, while the government-wide statements present the long-term view. 

Governmental lilnds - Financial information for the City's governmental funds is summarized on pages 11 and 
13. Governmental fund balances decreased $101,037. 

Proprietary funds • The fund statements for the proprietary funds look much like the business-type activities in 
the government-wide statements. Proprietary fund financial information is measured with the same principles 
used by commercial enterprises, so this infmmation does not change from the fund statements to the 
government-wide statements. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Budgetary comparison schedules include information about both the original budget and the amended budget. 
Generally, budgets are amended to add projects that were not anticipated when the budget was first adopted. 
Revenue budgets are usually estimated lower to allow budgetary flexibility for additional projects. There were 
no budget amendments in the general fund during the current year. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

The City invests substantial resources in capital assets that support the services provided to the public. All of the 
City's outstanding bonds have been used to acquire or construct capital assets. 

Capital Assets 

The City's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation are summarized below: 

City of Lancaster. Kentucky Capital Assets (net of depreciation) 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities Total 

Land $ 60,000 $ 79,643 $ 139,643 
PJant buildings and maintenance I, I 14,435 7,559,362 8,673,797 
Equipment and vehicles 350,389 234,037 584,426 
Construction in progress 5,485,000 5,485,000 

Total $ 1,524,824 $ 13,358,042 $ 14,882,866 

The increase in the City's capital assets is the result of multiple construction projects ongoing during the year. 
See Note L related to the ongoing projects. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Long-Term Debt 

The principal outstanding on the City's long-term debt is summarized in the following table. 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities 

Series 2009 Revenue Bonds-Sewer $ $ 839,000 $ 

Series 2010 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 1,415,000 

KLC Bonds - Water 795,566 

KLC Bonds - Sewer 576,100 

KIA Loan - Sewer 2008 215,443 

KIA Loan - Sewer 2016 185,754 

KIA Loan - Sewer 2019 185,200 

KRWFC - Interim Financing 3,634,616 

Note Payable- Bank 100,000 

Total $ 100,000 $ 7,846,679 $ 

Total 

839,000 

1,415,000 

795,566 

576,100 

215,443 

185,754 

185,200 

3,634,616 

100,000 

7,946,679 

The City refinanced four outstanding rural development bonds with the issuance of the Kentucky League of City 
bonds in the amount of $1,430,000. The City also entered into a note payable with a local bank to finance the 
remodel of the police building. In addition, interim financing on the water plant project increased $3,586,225. 
Outstsnding debt increased $3,786,275 resulting from the new debt issued described above and current year 
scheduled principal payments. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget 

The City currently has two large project commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2020. A discussion of these 
commitments can be found at footnote L, page 37 of the financial statements. 

The City's management assesses the financial health of the City's funds on an ongoing basis and will continue to 
do so going forward. The most significant economic factors identified by the City's management that will have a 
direct adverse effect on the financial condition of the City next year and beyond are the continued increases in 
retirement rates mandated by the state related to the hazardous and non-hazardous duty employees. The rates are 
expected to continue to increase at a significant pace and will make it necessary for management to allocate the 
necessary funds to meet these higher retirement costs in the future. The funded ,iatus of the CERS plan will have 
a significant impact on the required contributions and the City's prop011ionate share of the net pension and 
OPEB liabilities. House Bill 362 passed during the 2018 legislative session caps the CERS employer 
contribution rate increases to 12 percent per year over the prior fiscal year through 2028. During the 2020 
Regular Session, Senate Bill 249 froze the CERS employer rate phase-in for one year. 

As discussed in Note M, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may impact the City's payroll and net 
profits license fee revenues, as well as accounts receivable collections on water and sewer bills. 

Contacting the City's Financial Management 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accoi.mtsbility for the money it receives. If you 
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, conract the Mayor or Cily Clerk's 
Office, 308 West Maple Avenue, Lancaster, KY 40444, telephone number (859) 792-2241. 
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Investments (certificates of deposit) 

Receivables, net of allowance: 

Taxes 

Customer accowits 

Grants 

Other receivables 

Prepaid expenses 

Restricted assets: 

Cash and cash equivalenls 

Investments ( certificates of deposit) 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Lond 

Construction in progress 

Other capital assets 

Less: accumulated depreciation 

Total assets 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Governmental 

Activities 

$ 276,842 $ 

34,300 

70,277 

36,646 

149,543 

40,539 

17,316 

60,000 

2,481,417 

(1,016,593) 

2,150,287 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 942,518 

LIABILITIES 

Accounls payable 112,207 

Accounts payable - contractors 

Accrued expenses 26,928 

Customer deposits 

Accrued interest payable 

lnterual balances 215,000 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Due within one yenr 100,000 

Due in more than one year 

Net Pension Liability 2,162,126 

Net OPEB Liability 567,626 

Total liabilities 3,183,887 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 314,848 

NET POSITION 

Net investment in capital assets 1,424,824 

Restricted for: 

Debt service 

Municipal aid pwjects 150,989 

Unrestricted {deficit) (1,981,743) 

Total net position $ (405,930) $ 

Business-type 

Activities 

219,860 

228,437 

213,560 

19,251 

1,114,201 

252,639 

79,643 

5,485,000 

19,706,421 

(11,913,022) 

15,405,990 

690,122 

105,209 

501,685 

7,925 

131,002 

125,227 

(215,000) 

207,707 

7,638,972 

1,328,154 

303,604 

10,134,485 

155,787 

5,511,363 

1,366,840 

(1,072,363) 

5,805,840 

See accompanying notes lo financial statements. 
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$ 496,702 

262,737 

70,277 

250,206 

149,543 

40,539 

36,567 

1,114,201 

252,639 

139,643 

5,485,000 

22,187,838 

(12,929,615) 

17,556,277 

1,632,640 

217,416 

501,685 

34,853 

131,002 

125,227 

307,707 

7,638,972 

3,490,280 

871,230 

13,318,372 

470,635 

6,936,187 

1,366,840 

150,989 

(3,054,106) 

$ 5,399,910 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF ACl'MTIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Pro~ Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position 

Operating Capital 

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type 

Functions/Programs ~enses Servic~ Contnbutiom, Contributions Acti.VIties Activities Total 

Governmental Activities 

General government $ (800,790) $ 548,575 $ $ $ (252,215) $ $ (252,215) 

Public safety (l,764,0ll) 244,740 (1,519,271) (1,519,271) 

Public services (149,209) 76,449 (72,760) (72,760) 

Total governmental activities (2,714,010) 548,575 321.189 (1,844,246) (1,844,246) 

Business-type activities: 

Water (2,221,277) 1.782,330 l438,947) (438,947) 

Sewer system (737,543) 550,647 (186,896) (186,896) 

Total business-type activities (2,958,820) 2,332,977 (625,843) (625,843) 

Total primary government (5,672,830) 2,881,552 321,189 (1,844,246) (625,843) (2,470,089) 

General revenues: 

Taxes, levied for g:eneral purposes 413,202 413,202 

License fees and permits, levied for general purposes 892,421 892,421 

Fines and forfeitures 24.208 24,208 

Interest and invesnnent earnings 360 7,331 7,691 

Gain on sale of capital assets 39,425 39,425 

Miscellaneous 32,555 49,142 81,697 

Total general revenues, special item.<:, and transfers 1,402,171 56,473 1,458,644 

Change in net position (442,075) (569,370) (l,0ll,445) 

Net position - beginning 36,145 6,375,210 6,411,355 

Net position - ending s (405,930) ~805..,840 - s 5!_399,910 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalenls 

Investments ( certificate of deposit) 

Receivables (net of allowance): 

Property taxes 

ABC taxes 

Utility franchise tax 

Payroll tax 

Customer accounts 

Other receivables 

Grant receivable 

Due from (to) other funds 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable 

Accrued expenses 

Total liabilities 

FUND BALANCES 

Unassigned 

CommiUed to planning & zoning use 

Restricted to municipal road aid project,; 

Total fund balances 

Totol liabilities and fund balances 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Municipal 

General Road Aid 

Fund Fund 

$ 141,495 $ 132,694 

34,300 

8,477 

11,890 

25,830 

24,080 

36,646 

40,539 

149,543 

(234,775) 19,775 

$ 238,025 $ 152,469 

$ 110,727 $ 1,480 

26,928 

137,655 1,480 

100,370 

150,989 

100,370 150,989 

$ 238,025 $ ]52,469 

See accompanying notes lo financial statements. 

II 

Planning Total 

and Governmental 

Zoning Funds 

$ 2,653 $ 276,842 

34,300 

8,477 

11,890 

25,830 

24,080 

36,646 

40,539 

149,543 

(215,000) 

$ 2,653 $ 393,147 

$ 112,207 

26,928 

139,135 

100,370 

2,653 2,653 

150,989 

2,653 254,012 

$ 2,653 $ 393.147 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET-GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO 

THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Total fund balance per fund financial statements 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the stalement of net position are 
different because: 

Prepaid expenses in governmental funds are a use of financial resources and 

lherefore are not reported as an asset 

Capital assets are not reported in this fund financial statement because they are not 
current financial resomces, but they are reported in the statement of net position: 

Governmental capital assets 

Less: accumulated depreciation 

Certain items related to the City's net pension and OPEB liabilities do not affect 
available financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Certain liabilities (such as bonds payable, the long-term portion of accrned sick 
leove, ond notes payable) are not reported in this fund financial statement because 
they are nol due and payable, but they are presented in the statement of net position: 

Loan agreements 

Net position for governmental ElClivities 

See accompanying notes lo financial statements. 
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$ 254,012 

17,316 

1,524,824 

(2, I 02,082) 

(100,000) 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENT AL FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Municipal Total 
Road Aid Planning Governmenlal 

General Fund Fund And Zoning Funds 

REVENUES: 

Taxes $ 413,202 $ $ $ 413,202 

Licenses & _permits 892,421 892,421 

Fines & forfeitures 24,208 24,208 

Tntergovernmental revenues 2-U,740 76,449 321,189 

Charges for services 548,575 5-!8,575 

Intere.,;t 130 230 360 

Other 25,772 6,000 783 32,555 

Total revenues 2,149,048 82,679 783 2,232,510 

EXPENDITURES: 

Current operating: 

General government 742,003 742,003 

Public safety 1,342,561 1,342,561 

Public services 148,009 148,009 

Capital outlay 240,399 240,399 

Total expenditures 2,324,963 148.009 2,472,972 

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues over expenditures 
before other sources and uses (175,915) (65,330) 783 (240,462) 

Other financing sources (uses): 

Sale of capital assets 39,425 39,425 

Proceeds from note payable 100,000 100,000 

Total other sources and uses 139,425 139,425 

Net change in fund balances (36,490) (65,330) 783 (101,037) 

Fund balances--beginning 136,860 216,319 1,870 355,049 

Fund balances--ending $ 100,370 $ 150,989 $ 2,653 $ 254,012 

See accompanying notes lo financial statements. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXl'ENOITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

VEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Amounts reported for governmen1al aclivities in the statement ofactivilies are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while govemmental activities repott deprecialion expense to 

allocate those expenditures over the lire of the assets: 

Depreciation expense 

Capital outlay 

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the 
principal of long-tenn debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, 

however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas lhese amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
statement ofactivilies: 

Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 

Generally, expenditures recognized in the fund financial statements are limited to only those that use cunent financial 
resources, but expenses are recognized in the statement of activities when lhey are incurred: 

Prepaid insurance expense 

Tn the fund financial statements, pension and OPEB costs are recognized as payments are made to the plans; however, 
in the government-wide financial statements, pension and OPEB costs are recognized based on the overall changes in 
the net pension liability, net OPEB liability, and deferred int1ows and outflows of resources. 

Change in net assets of governmental activities 

See accompanying notes lo financial statements. 
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(101,037) 

(108,561) 

240,399 

(100,000) 

(1,106) 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

Water Sewer Total 

ASSETS 
Cul'J"ent Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 155,855 $ 64,005 $ 219,860 

Investments ( certificates of deposit) 100,618 127,819 228,437 

Reslricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments: 

Cash and cash equivalents 936,944 177,257 1,114,201 

Receivables (net of allowance) 156,774 56,786 213,560 

Due (to) from other funds 218,655 (3,655) 215,000 

Prepaid insurance 12,721 6,530 19,251 

Tota] current assets 1,581,567 428,742 2,010,309 

Noncu.rrent assets: 
Restricted certificates of deposit 27,289 225,350 252,639 

Total restricted assets 27,289 225,350 252,639 

Capital assets: 

Land 65,367 14,276 79,643 

Constmction in progress 5,220,610 264,390 5,485,000 

Other capilal assets 12,864,170 6,842,251 19,706,421 

Less: accumulated depreciation (6,912,227) (5,000,795) (ll,9!3,022) 

Capilal assets, net 11,237,920 2,120,122 lJ,358,042 

Total noncw-rent assets 11,265,209 2,345,472 lJ,610,681 

TOTAL ASSETS 12,846,776 2,774,214 15,620,990 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 497,696 192,426 690,122 

LIABILITIES: 
Cun-ent liabilities: 

Accounts payable 83,130 22,079 105,209 

Accounls payable - contractors 422,485 79,200 501,685 

Accrued wages 6,107 1,818 7,925 

Customer deposils 131,002 131,002 

Accrned interest payable 124,540 687 125,227 

Notes & revenue bonds payable - current 122,325 85,382 207,707 

Total current liabilities 889,589 189,166 1,078,755 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Noles & revenue bonds payable 6,561,857 1,077,115 7,638,972 

Nel pension liability 973,410 354,744 1,328,154 

Net OPEB liability 207,077 96,527 303,604 

Total noncurrent liabilities 7,742,344 1,528,386 9,270,730 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,631,933 1,717,552 10,349,485 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES ll0,438 45,349 155,787 

NET POSITION 

Net investmenl in capital ai;sets 4,553,738 957,625 5,511,363 

Restricted for debt service & bond covenanls 964,2]3 402,607 1,366,840 

Unrestricted (915,870) (156,493) (1,072,363) 

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 4,602,101 $ 1,203,739 $ 5,805,840 

See accompanying notes lo financial statement.'i. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Water Sewer Total 

Operating revenues: 

Charges for se1vices $ 1,755,460 $ 550,647 $ 2,306,107 

Connection fees 26,870 26,870 

Miscellaneous 38,009 11,IJJ 49,142 

Total operating revenues 1,820,]]9 561,780 2,382,119 

Operaling expenses: 

Personal services 717,694 207,989 925,683 

Contractual services 664,640 211,228 875,868 

Mate1ials and supplies ]30,757 102,587 433,344 

Depreciation 286,955 166,896 453,851 

Total operating expenses 2,000,046 688,700 2,688,746 

Operating income (loss) (179,707) (126,920) (306,627) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 

Interest and invesnnent revenue 2,004 5,327 7,331 

Interest expense (196,226) (30,736) (226,962) 

Bond issuance costs (25,005) (18,107) (43,I 12) 

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (219,227) (43,516) (262,743) 

Change in net position (398,934) (170,436) (569,370) 

Total net position - beginning 5,001,035 1,374,175 6,375,210 

Total net position - ending $ 4,602,101 $ 1,203,739 $ 5,805,840 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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CTTV OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Watel' Sewer Total 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Receipts from customers $ 1,790,0RS $ 561,077 $ 2,351,162 

Payments to suppliers (979,073) (314,104) (1,293,177) 

Payments for personal services (541,725) (156,297) (698,022) 

Other receipts (payments) 38,009 38,009 

Net cash provided {used) by operating activities 307,296 90,676 J97,972 

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPTTAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Transfers (to) from other funds (168,655) J,655 (165,000) 

Net cash used by noncapital financing activities (168,655) 3,655 (165,000) 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition and construction of capital assels (3,672, 114) (153,511) (3,825,625) 

Proceeds frnm the issuance of debt 4,415,625 754,120 5,169,745 

Payment of bond issuance costs (25,005) (18,107) (43,112) 

Principal paid on capital debt (878,734) (604,736) (1,483,470) 

Interest paid on capital debt (94,517) (37,118) (131,635) 

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (254,745) (59,352) (314,097) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchase of investmenls (100,644) (4,930) (105,574) 

Interest and dividends 2,004 5,327 7,331 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (98,640) 397 (98,243) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (214,744) 35,376 (179,368) 

Cash and equivalents- beginning of year 1,307,543 205,886 1,513,429 

Cash and equivalents - end of year $ 1,092,799 $ 241,262 $ 1,334,061 

(Continued next page) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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(Continued) 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Water 

Reconcilialion ofOperaling Income (Loss) to Net Cash 

Provided (Used) by Opel'atlng Activities 

Opt1rnting income {loss) $ (179,707) $ 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 

provided (used) by operating activities: 

Depreciation expense 

Change in assets and liabilities: 

Receivables, net 

Prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable 

Accrued wages 

Cuslorner deposits 

Net pension and OPEB liabilities and related deferrals 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information: 

Construction in progress included in accounts payable 

286,955 

2,176 

808 

15,516 

3,141 

5,579 

172,828 

$ 307,296 

$ 422,485 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Sewer Total 

(126,920) $ (306,627) 

166,896 453,851 

(703) 1,473 

(431) 377 

142 15,658 

973 4,114 

5,579 

50,719 223,547 

911,676 $ 397,972 

79,200 $ 501,685 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

NOTE A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the City of Lancaster (the City) conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles. The more significant of the government's accounting policies are described below. 

Reporting Entity 

The City of Lancaster, Kentucky, was incorporated on February 23, 1837, under the provisions of the Commonwealth 
of Kentucky. The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of government and provides the following services as 
authorized by its charter: public safety (police and fire), streets, sanitation, planning and zoning, and general 
administrative services. Other services include water and sewer operations. The Clty has evaluated various 
organizations with which it is related and determined that there are no component units as defined in Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No.14, "The Financial Reporting Entity" and as amended by Statement No.39, 
"Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units". Therefore, there are no component units included 
in the City's reporting entity. 

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of inter-fund 
activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues

1 
are reported separately from business-type activities 1 which rely to a significant extent on 

fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset 
by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
Program revenues include I) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds (if any), even 
though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental 
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Flnancial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the ful] 
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing ·of related cash flows. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized 
as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. For this pmpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Grant revenues are an exception, as they are considered available 
when eligible expenditures have occurred even though they may be collected for up to one year after the current fiscal 
year end. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt 
service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded 
when the liability has matored, with the exception of interest and principal which are recognized as expenditures when 
funds are transferred to the debt service fund to make payments due shortly after the fiscal year end. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Property taxes, franchise taxes, payroll taxes, licenses, interest revenue, intergovernmental revenue, and charges for 
se1vices are considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. 
Fines, pennits, net profit tax revenues and special assessments are considered to be measurable and available only when 
cash is received by the City. 

Funds are classified into these categories; governmental, proprietary and fiduciary. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The general fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

The municipal road aid fund is used to account for revenues and expenditures of funds related to the Kentucky 
Street Improvement Program. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The water utility fund and the sewer utility fund account for the activities of the utility services provided to the 
residents of the City and the surrounding areas. 

The City follows the guidance provided in GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements in the preparation of its financial 
statements. GASB Statement No. 62 directly incorporates the applicable Pre-November 30, 1989 guidance previously 
included in FASB and AICPA Pronouncements. 

As a general rule the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
Exceptions to this general rule are payments from the various funds to the general fund to compensate the general fund 
for administrative services provided. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges 
provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources 
are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water and sewer fund are charges to 
customers for sales and services. The water and sewer fund also recognize as operating revenue the portion of tap fees 
intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include 
the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. When both restricted and unrestricted 
resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources 
as they are needed. 

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make use of estimates that affect reported amounts in the basic 
financial statements. Actual results could differ from estimates. 

Assets, liabilities, and net position or equity 

I. Cash Deposits and Investments 

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and shmt-term investments, 
which consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Kentucky Revised Statute 66.480 generally limits the City to investing in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. 
agencies, repurchase agreements, obligations of the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its agencies, insured savings and 
loans, and interest-bearing deposits of insured national or state banks. The deposits in excess of insurance coverage 
must be fully collateral ized. 

Certain cash amounts are classified on the statement of net position as restricted because applicable bond indentures or 
other legal provisions limit their use. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are included and used for their respective 
purpose. 

For the purpo'se of the statement of cash flows, the City considers cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments 
(including restricted assets) with an original matu1ity of three months or less when purchased. 

2. Receivables and Payables 

Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal 
year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds" (i.e., the current portion of inter-fund loans) or "advances 
to/from other funds" (i.e., the non-current portion of inter-fund loans). All other outstanding balances between funds are 
reported as "due to/from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and 
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide fin.ancial statements as "internal balances". 

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for un-collectibles. Trade accounts receivable in 
excess of 90 days comprise the trade accounts receivable allowance for un-collectibles. The property tax receivable 
allowance is based on vaiying percentages depending on the age of the receivable. 

3. Inventories 

Inventory of supplies and materials is charged to expenditures when purchased. Therefore, the City does not have any 
inventory to report. 

4. Restricted Assets 

Certain resources set aside for the repayment of the Water and Sewer Fund debt have been classified as restricted assets 
on the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants. The restricted assets have been accounted for in accordance with the provisions of the Water and Sewer 
Fund revenue bond resolutions or with state or federal laws and regulations. 

Debt Service Reserve - The City is required to set aside the maximum annual debt service. The City must continue 
deposits into the debt service reserve until the funds equal the amount required to retire all outstanding bonds and 
related accrued interest. 

Depreciation Reserve - Revenue bond covenants require the City to set aside funds monthly into separate depreciation 
reserve accounts. Also, Kentucky Infrastructure Authority (KIA) covenants require the City to transfer annually $4,750 
to a replacement reserve until $39,073 is accumulated in the account. The City made its final payment on October I, 
2007. The City is in substantial compliance with its bond and KIA covenants at year-end. 

The City's KIA loan requires City to transfer annually $1,000 to a replacement reserve until $10,000 is accumulated in 
the account. 

5. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include land, properly, plant, infrastructure, and equipment, are rep01ted in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. The City has elected to 
prospectively report newly acquired or constructed general infrashucture assets, pursuant to the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 34. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $ I 0,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of two years. All purchased capital assets are valued at cost where historical records are available 
and at an estimated historical cost where no historical records exist. Donated capital assets are valued at fair market 
value on the date received. 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are 
not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital 
assets, as applicable. 

Infrastructure, buildings, improvements, plant, equipment, and other capital assets of the gove1nment are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives. 

Infrastructure 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Water & Sewer Distribution System 
Machinery & Equipment 
Vehicles 

10-50 Years 
20-50 Years 
10-20 Years 
10-50 Years 
5-10 Years 
3-10 Years 

Interest incurred during the constrnction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as prut of the 
capitalized value of the assets constructed. 

6. Accumulated Unpaid Vacation and Sick Pay 

Accumulated unpaid vacation and sick pay have not been accrued because the employees have no vested or 
accumulated rights. 

7. Long-term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt 
and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type 
activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized 
over the term of the related issues. Bonds payable are repo11ed net of the applicable discounts and issuance costs. 

Tn the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuance are 
reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 

8. Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County Employer's 
Retirement System Plan (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS' fiduciary net position have been determined 
on the same basis as they are repOJ1ed by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 

9. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciruy net position of the County Employers' Retirement 
System Plan (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments, (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

10. CompensatedAbsences 

City employees are entitled to certain compensated absences based on their length of employment. Compensated 
absences accrue as they are earned. However, the amount accrued at year-end was not material. 

11. Management's Review of Subsequent Events 

The City has evaluated and considered the need to recognize or disclose subsequent events through April 15, 2021, 
which represents the date that these financial statements were available to be issued. Subsequent events past this date, as 
they pertain to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, have not been evaluated by the City. 

12. Equity Classifications 

Government-wide financial statements classify equity as net position. Net position is displayed in three components: 

a. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, leases, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

b. Restricted net position consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by external 
groups such as creditors, granters, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, and by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net position consists of all other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" 
or "net investment in capital assets". 

Fund financial statements report governmental fund equity as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified: 

a. Non-spendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in 
spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

b. Restricted fund balance includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes either (a) by externally 
imposed creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Committed fund balance includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by formal action of the government's highest level of decision-making authority. The 
City's highest level of decision-making authority is the City Council. 

d. Assigned fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The City's Mayor is authorized to assign the 
fund balance. The City has not adopted fonnal procedures to show that the mayor has assigned the fund 
balance. 

e. Unassigned fund balance represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has 
not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

The City has determined that when both restricted and unrestricted funds are available, that they will use the restricted 
resources first. In addition, when expenditures could be deemed to have been expended by using committed, assigned or 
unassigned funds, the City has determined that the funds will be first categorized as assigned, second as committed and 
third as unassigned. 

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in government-wide statements. 

13. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balances in the governmental funds and 
net position reported in the government-wide statements. These adjustments reflect the changes necessary to report the 
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governmental fund balances on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. Capital 
assets, prepaid expenses, notes receivable, and long-term debt are added to the governmental funds to compile the long­
term view of the governmental activities column. 

A similar reconciliation is included on the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the 
governmental funds. These adjustments reflect the transition from the modified accrual basis of accounting for 
governmental funds to the accrual basis of accounting for the statement of activities. Capital outlay is replaced with 
depreciation expense. Loans to other entities are added and repayments of those loans are subtracted. Debt proceeds are 
subtracted, while principal payments on long-te1m debt are eliminated from the operating costs. 

NOTE B - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Budgetary Information 

The City follows the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements. 

Kentucky Revised Statutes 9\A.030 requires the preparation and adoption of an annual budget in the form of an 
appropriations ordinance before the City may expend any monies from any governmental or proprietary fund and 
prohibits expenditures or expenses in excess of appropriations. KRS further provides that the full amount of debt service 
be appropriated. All appropriations lapse at year-end. The City's general fund expenditures exceeded its budget by 
$356,863 for the year ended June 30, 2020. The City's municipal road aid fund expenditures exceeded its budget by 
$29,359 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

To meet the legal requirements for appropriations, all budgets are presented on a modified accrual basis. For proprietary 
funds this means that certain capitalized receipts and disbursements are budgeted along with related revenue and 
expense, that depreciation, a non-cash expenditure, is not budgeted, and that the full amount of debt service is budgeted. 

Under Kentucky Revised Statutes, all local government units are required to have a June 30 fiscal year-end. The City of 
Lancaster has a June 30 fiscal year-end. 

Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments and in order to comply with various federal and state 
mandates. 

Prior to June 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance by the city. 

Formal budgeta1y integration is utilized as a management control device for all governmental fund types and the water 
and sewer funds. 

An encumbrance system under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expendinires of monies 
are recorded is maintained. Encumbrances maintained at year-end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. 
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are re-appropriated in the next budget year. 

Property taxes 

The City bills and collects its property taxes through the Garrard County Sheriff's Office. The City elects to use annual 
property assessments prepared by the Garrard County Property Valuation Administrator. According to the Kentucky 
Revised Statutes, the assessment date for the City must conform to the Januaiy I assessment date ofGarrai·d County. 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, taxes were levied November I, 2019 and were payable by December 31, 2019. A 2% 
penalty was imposed on all taxes delinquent as of January 1, 2020 and a 10% penalty was imposed on all taxes 
delinquent as of February l, 2020. 

The City is permitted by Section 157 of the Constitution of Kentucky to levy taxes up to $1.00 per $100 assessed 
valuation for general goverurnental services other than school purposes. Legislation passed by the Kentucky General 
Assembly imposed severe limits on the ability of a city to significantly increase property tax revenues. A city may not 
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increase its revenues from taxes on real property, exclusive of increases due to assessment growth without giving notice 
of such an increase and holding a public hearing on the matter. If that increase is less than 4%, that is all that is 
necessary, but if the increase is more than 4%, residents of the City may petition for an election to be held on the 
question. If the majority of those voting in a valid election vote against the proposed rate increase, the rate must be 
rolled back to one which will not produce more than a 4% increase. City tax rates of 15.6 cents per $100 on real 
property, 26 ceuts per $100 on personal property, and 24.2 cents per $100 on vehicles for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2020, are within permissible limits under the above legislation. 

NOTE C - Cash Deposits and Investments 

Deposits 

The City is required by Kentucky Revised Statutes to have the financial institution pledge securities having a current 
quoted market value at least equal to the uninsured deposits. At year end, the City is fully collateralized and all pledged 
investments were held in the City's name. 

Investments 

A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown on the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position at June JO, 2020 
is as follows: 

Deposits 

Tnvestments 

Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Investments - CD's 
Cash and cash equivalents-restricted 

Investments-restricted CD's 

Total 

The City's investments at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Type of Investment Fair Value 

Governmental Activities: 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Carrying Value Bank Balance 

1,610,903 $ 1,923,670 

515,376 515,376 

2,126,279 $ 2,439,046 

496,702 

262,737 
1,114,201 

252,639 

2,126,279 

Cost Interest Rate Maturity Date 

Farmers National Bank 

Ce11ificate of Deposit $ 34,300 ~$==3;.4;,;;,3;.o_o 0.15% 08/15/21 

Business Type Activities: 

Farmers National Bank 
Certificate of Deposit 

Certificate of Deposit 

Certificate of Deposit 
Certificate of Deposit 
Certificate of Deposit 

Whitaker Bank 
Certificate of Deposit 

$ 

$ 

27,289 $ 

26,269 

20,714 
127,819 

100,618 

I 78,367 

481,076 $ 

25 

27,289 0.15% 07/28/21 

26,269 0.15% 07/28/21 

20,714 0.12% 11/17/21 

127,819 2.23% 05/13/21 

100,618 0.20% 12/20/20 

178,367 1.15% 06/27/22 

481,076 
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Interest Rate Risk. The City does not have an investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
One hundred percent of the City's investments are in bank certificates of deposits. 

Concentration of credit risk. The City places no limit on the amount the City may invest in any one issuer. The City has 
100% of its investments in bank certificates of deposit (in 2 different banks). 

Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk for deposits and investments is the risk that, in the event of failure by a 
financial institution, the City may not be able to recover the value of its deposits and investments that are in the 
possession of the financial institution. The City's investment policy dictates that all cash maintained in any financial 
institution named as a depository be insured or collateralized, the collateral held in the name of the City, and that 
investments be registered in the name of the City. Collateral must be held by an independent third-party custodian. 

Note D - Capital Assets 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
General government 

Public Safety 
Public Services 

Business-type activities: 
Water 
Sewer 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

32,950 
74,411 

1,200 

108,561 

286,955 
166,896 

453,851 

The City has ao active water treatment plant constmction project and a sewer system upgrades project at the end of the 
fiscal year. See Note L for commitments related to these projects. The costs incurred to date for these projects are 
included in "construction in progress" on the water and sewer fund's balance sheet. 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows: 

Governmental activities: 

Land 

Buildings 

Equipment and vehicles 

Construction in progress 

Total cost 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Buildings 

Equipment and vehicles 

Total accumulated depreciation 

$ 

Beginning 

Balance 

60,000 

1,192,260 

984,008 

64,750 

2,301,018 

(348,824) 

(559,208) 

(908,032) 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 1,392,986 

26 

$ 

Increases 

305,149 

225,039 

530,188 

(34,150) 

(74,411) 

• (108,561) 

$ 421,627 

Decreases 

$ 

(289,789) 

(289,789) 

$ (289,789) 

$ 

Ending 

Balance 

60,000 

1,497,409 

984,008 

2,541,417 

(382,974) 

(633,619) 

(1,016,593) 

$ 1,524,824 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Business-type activities: 

Land 

Water and ~,ner plant 

Equipment 

Vehicles 

Construction in progress 

Total cost 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Water and Sewer plant 

Equipment 

Vehicles 

Total accwnulated depreciation 

Business-type activities capital assets, net 

Note E - Retirement Plan 

$ 

Beginning 

Balance 

79,643 

17,937,135 

1,494,573 

274,713 

1,313,975 

21, I 00,039 

(9,956,206) 

(I ,270,459) 

(232,506) 

(11,459,171) 

$ 9,640,868 

Increases Decreases 

$ $ 

4,171,025 

4,171,025 

(421,567) 

(I 8,673) 

(13,61 I) 

(453,851) 

$3,717,174 $ 

Ending 

Balance 

$ 79,643 

17,937,135 

1,494,573 

274,713 

5,485,000 

25,271,064 

{10,377,773) 

(1,289,132) 

(246,117) 

(11,913,022) 

$ 13,358,042 

The City is a paiticipating employer of the County Employees' Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of 
Kentucky Revised Statue 61.645, the Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS. The 
plan issues publicly available financial statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
website. 

Plan Description - CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all 
regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and school board, and any additional 
eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. The plan provides for retirement, disability, and death 
benefits to plan members. Retirement benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain 
circumstances. Cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments are provided at the discretion of state legislature. 

Contributions - For the year ended June 30, 2020, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% of wages for non­
hazardous job classifications, and 8.00% for hazardous job classifications. Employees hired alter September 1, 2008 
are required to contribute an additional I% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute 
Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the 
basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July I of a new biennium. The Board may amend couhibution rates as 
of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial 
valuation that amended contributions rates are necessa1y to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial 
basis adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 30, 2020, participating employers conhibuted 24.06% (21.48% for 
the year ended June 30, 2019) of each employee's wages for non-hazardous job classifications and 39.58% (35.34% for 
the year ended June 30, 2019) for hazardous job classifications, which is equal to the actuarially determined rates set by 
the Board. Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer contributions and 
investment earnings. 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, January I, 2014, were required to contribute to the Cash Balance 
Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of both a defined benefit plan and 
a defined contribution plan. Members in the plan contribute a set percentage of their salaiy each month to their own 
account. Plan members in non-hazardous job classifications contribute 5.00% of wages to their own account and 1 % to 
the health insurance fund. Plan members in hazardous job classifications contribute 8.00% of wages to their own 
account and I% to the health insurance fund. The employer contribution rate is set annually by the Board based on an 
actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set percentage of each member's salary. Each month, when employer 
contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. For non-hazardous members, 
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their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. For hazardous members, their account is credited with a 7.5% 
employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City contributed $214,479 for non-hazardous job classifications, and $108,030 for 
hazardous job classifications, or 100% of the required contribution for each. For non-hazardous employees, the 
contribution was allocated $172,047 to the CERS pension fund and $42,432 to the CERS insurance fund. For hazardous 
employees, the contribution was allocated $82,046 to the CERS pension fund and $25,984 to the CERS insurance fund, 

Pension Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Ouljlows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources - At June 30, 2020, 
the City reported a liability of $3,490,280 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The liability consisted 
of $2,210,205 for non-hazardous job classifications and $1,280,075 for hazardous job classifications. The net pension 
liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date and rolled forward to June 30, 2019. The City's proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to 
the projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2020, the City's proportion 
was .031426% for non-hazardous employees and .046341 % for hazardous employees, which was equal to its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2019. At June 30, 2019, the City's proportion was .024901 % for non-hazardous employees and 
.048312% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018. 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $535,958. At June 30, 2020, the City reported 
deferred outflows of resow·ces and deferred inflows of Jesources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 

Outflows of Inlloffli of 

Resources Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $ 110,820 $ 9,339 

Changes of assumptions 347,954 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
Plan investments 62,119 115,865 

Changes in proportion and differences between City 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 371,672 51,826 

City contributions subsequent to the measurement date 254,093 

Total $ 1,146,658 $ 177,030 

The $254,093 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in pension expense as 

follows: 

Year ending June 30, 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 

28 

$ 421,477 
217,022 

73,356 
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Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 
Payroll growth 
Salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

2.30% 
2.00% (3.05% in prior year) 
3.30% to 10.20% varied by service inflation 
6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 

The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non-Hazardous System, 
and the Pub-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous System, projected with the ultimate rates from the 
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The mortality table used for healthy retired members 
was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates 
from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled 
members was PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected 
with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 20 I 0. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study 
for the period January I, 2013 - June 30, 2018. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared every five 
years. Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumptions including long-term 
historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return ( expected rehrrn, net of investment expense and inflation) were developed 
by the investment consultant for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then 
adding expected inflation. The capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are intended for use 
over a 10-year horizon and may not be useful in setting the long-term rate of return for funding pension plans which 
covers a longer time frame. The assumption is intended to be a long-term assumption and is not expected to change 
absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental change in the 
market that alters expected returns in future years. 

The target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 

Target Long-term Nominal 
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return 
US Equity 18.75% 4.30% 
Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80% 
Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 
Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 2.60% 
Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35% 
Real Estate 5.00% 4.85% 
Opportunistic 3.00% 2.97% 
Real Return 15.00% 4.10% 
Cash 1.00% 0.20% 

Total 100% 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25 percent. The projection of cash 
flows used to dete1mine the discount rate assumed that locaJ employers would contribute the actuarially dete1mined 
contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 24-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability. The actuarial detem1ined contribution rates are dete1mined on an annual basis. The discount rate does 
not use a municipal bond rate. 
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Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.25 
percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I percentage-point lower (5.25 percent) or I percentage-point higher (7.25 percent) than the current 
rate: 

1% decrease 
Current discount rate 
1 % increase 

Discount rate 
5.25% 
6.25% 
7.25% 

City's proportionate 
share of net pension 

liability 
$ 4,364,720 
$ 3,490,280 
$ 2,765,810 

Payable to the Pension Plan - At June 30, 2020, the City reported a payable of $30,198 for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the pension plan required for the year ended June 30, 2020. The payable includes both the pension and 
insurance contribution allocation. 

NOTE F - Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan (OPEB) 

The City is a participating employer of the County Employees' Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of 
Kentucky Revised Statue 61.645, the Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS. The 
plan issues publicly available financial statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
website. 

Plan Description - CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit other postemployment benefit plan that 
covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and school 
board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. The plan provides for health 
insurance benefits to plan members. Health insurance benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under 
certain circumstances. 

Contributions - For the year ended June 30, 2020, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% of wages for non­
hazardous job classifications, and 8.00% for hazardous job classifications. Employees hired after September I, 2008 
are required to contribute an additional I% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute 
Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past se1vice contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the 
basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July I of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as 
of the tirst day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial 
valuation that amended contributions rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial 
basis adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 30, 2020, participating employers contributed 24.06% (21 .48% for 
the year ended June 30, 2019) of each employee's wages for non-hazardous job classifications and 39.58% (35.34% for 
the year ended June 30, 2019) for hazardous job classifications, which is equal to the actuarially determined rates set by 
the Board. Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are financed through employer contributions and 
iI1Vestment earnings. 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, Januaiy I, 2014, were required to contribute to the Cash Balance 
Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of both a defined benefit plan and 
a defined contribution plan. Members in the plan contribute a set percentage of their sa]a1y each month to their own 
account. Plan members in non-hazardous job classifications contribute 5.00% of wages to their own account and 1% to 
the health insurance fund. Plan members in hazardous job classifications contribute 8.00% of wages to their own 
account and I% to the health insurance fund. The employer contribution rate is set annually by the Board based on an 
actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set percentage of each member's salary. Each month, when employer 
contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. For non-hazardous members, 
their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. For hazardous members, their account is credited with a 7.5% 
employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 
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For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City contributed $214,479 for non-hazardous job classifications, and $108,030 for 
hazardous job classifications, or 100% of the required contribution for each. For non-hazardous employees, the 
contribution was allocated $172,136 to the CERS pension fund and $42,343 to the CERS insurance fund. For hazardous 
employees, the contribution was allocated $82,046 to the CERS pension fund and $25,984 to the CERS insurance fund. 

OPEB Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Ouiflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources-At June JO, 2020, the 
City reported a liability of $871,230 for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The liability consisted of 
$528,437 for non-hazardous job classifications and $342,793 for hazardous job classifications. The net OPEB liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date and rolled f01ward to June 30, 2019. The City's proportion of the net OPEB 
liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all patiicipating entities, acruarially determined. At June 30, 2020, the City's proportion was 
.031418 percent for non-hazardous employees and .046332% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2018, the City's proportion was .024900 percent for non­
hazardous employees and .048314% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its proportion measured as of June 
30, 2018. 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $59,359. At June 30, 2020, the City reported 
deferred outflows of resomces and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and actual results 

Changes of assumptions 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
Plan investments 

Changes in prop01tion and differences between City 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

$ 

Total $ 

Deferred 

Outflows of 

Resources 

-

259,959 

5,823 

151,873 

68,327 

485,982 

Deferred 

Jnf!O\W Of 

Resources 

$ 223,212 

1,695 

49,003 

19,695 

$ 293,605 

The $68,327 of deferred outflows of resources resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts 
reported as defe1red outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 

Year ending June 30, 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
Thereafter 

$ 42,639 
24,407 
22,633 
19,929 
11,447 
2,995 

Actuarial Assumptions - The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 
Payroll growth rate 
Salary increases 

2.30% 
2.00% 
3.30% to 10.30% varied by service 
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Investment rate of return 
Healthcare trend rates: 

6.25% 

Pre - 65 

Post - 65 

Initial trend starting at 7.00% at January I, 2020, and gradually 
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 12 years 
Initial trend starting at 5.00% at January I, 2020, and gradually decreasing 
to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 10 years 

The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non-Hazardous System, 
and the Pub-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous System, projected with the ultimate rates from the 
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 20 I 0. The mortality table used for healthy retired members 
was a system-specific mortality table based on mortality experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates 
from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled 
members was PUB-2010 Disabled Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected 
with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the res.nits of an actuarial experience study 
for the period January I, 2013 - June 30, 2018. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies preparecl every five 
years. Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumptions including long-term 
historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return ( expected return, net of investment expense and inflation) were developed 
by the investment consultant for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then 
adding expected inflation. The capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are intended for use 
over a IO-year horizon and may not be useful in setting the long-term rate of return for funding pension plans which 
covers a longer time frame. The assumption is intended to be a long-term assumption and is not expected to change 
absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental change in the 
market that alters expected returns in future years. 

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Trend Rate- The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the health care trend rate 
described above, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a healthcare trend rate that is I-percentage-point lower or I-percentage-point higher than the current rate: 

1 % decrease 
Current healthcare trend rate 
1 % increase 

City's proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
$ 631,521 
$ 871,230 
$ 1,162,665 

The target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 

following table: 

Target Long-term Nominal 
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return 

US Equity 18.75% 4.30% 

Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80% 

Private Equity 10.00% 6.65% 

Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 2.60% 

Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35% 

Real Estate 5.00% 4.85% 

Opportunistic 3.00% 2.97% 
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Real Return 
Cash 

Total 

15.00% 
1.00% 
100% 

4.10% 
0.20% 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.68 percent for non-hazardous and 
5.69% for hazardous. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that local employers 
would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 24-year 
amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The actuarial detennined contribution rates are 
detennined on an annual basis. The discount rate uses an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a municipal bond rate of 
3.13%, as reported in the Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO AA Index" as of June 28, 2019. However, the cost 
associated with the implicit employer subsidy was not included in the calculation of the actuarial determined 
contributions, and any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the trusts. Therefore, the 
municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments associated with the implicit subsidy. The City's 
proportionate share of the implicit subsidy was $11,591 at June 30, 2020. 

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 5.68 
percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower (4.68 percent) or I-percentage-point higher (6.68 percent) than the current 

rate: 

1% decrease 
CmTent discount rate 
1% increase 

Discount rate 
4.68% 
5.68% 
6.68% 

City's proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
$ 1,186,152 
$ 871,230 
$ 613,409 

Payable to the Pension Plan - At June 30, 2020, the City reported a payable of $30,198 for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the OPEB plan required for the year ended June 30, 2020. The payable includes both the pension and 
insurance contribution allocation. 

NOTE G-Long Term Debt 

Revenue Bonds - Water and Sewer Funds 

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Original Maturity Debt 

Issue Interest Date Outstanding 

Series Amount Rate Fiscal Year June 30, 2020 

Series 2009 1,015,000 2.375% 2048 $ 839,000 

Series 2010 1,641,000 2.500% 2050 1,415,000 

KLC Bond Series 1,430,000 2.560% 2042 1,371,666 

$ 3,625,666 
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Revenue Bond Debt Service Requirements 

The annual principal and interest requirements of the water and sewer revenue bonds payable as of June 30, 2020, are as 
follows: 

Year Ending Water Sewer Total 

June 30, Principal Interest PrinciEal Interest Principal Interest 

2021 $ 122,325 $ 77,128 

2022 108,600 73,823 

2023 111,308 71,134 

2024 115,208 68,378 

2025 118,400 65,525 
2026-2030 532,191 284,085 

2031-2035 476,608 223,471 

2036-2040 539,158 158,806 
2041-2045 486,267 90,407 
2046-2050 440,000 30,042 

Total $ 3,050,065 $ 1,142,799 

Total Debt Service by Bond Series 

Series 2009 Revenue Bonds - Water 
Series 2010 Revenue Bonds - Water 
KLC Revenue Bonds - Water 
KLC Revenue Bonds - Sewer 

Total 

Bond Covenants and Provisions 

$ 50,925 $ 
39,900 
40,775 
42,875 
44,100 

158,725 
86,975 
96,425 
15,400 

$ 576,100 $ 

Princi:eal 
$ 839,000 

1,415,000 
795,567 
576,100 

$ 3,625,667 

15,798 $ 173,250 $ 92,926 
14,326 148,500 88,149 
13,330 152,083 84,464 
12,310 158,083 80,688 

11,238 162,500 76,763 
40,587 690,916 324,672 
25,960 563,583 249,431 

12,432 635,583 171,2'l8 

999 501,667 91,406 
440,000 30,042 

146,980 $ 3,626,165 $ 1,289,779 

Interest 

$ 323,760 
616,075 
202,963 
146,980 

$ 1,289,778 

Total Payment 

$ 1,162,760 
2,031,075 

998,530 
723,080 

$ 4,915,445 

Under the various bond ordinances passed for the Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, certain covenants and provisions 
for the collection, segregation, and distribution of revenues of the water and sewer system were established. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the City is in substantial compliance with all covenants and provisions of the 
loan agreements. 

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loans - Water and Sewer Funds 

On December l, 2008, the City entered into an agreement with the Kentucky Infrastructure Authority to borrow 
$490,000 with an interest rate of 0,60% to be repaid over a twenty-year period. The proceeds of this loan were used to 
fund an expansion of the City's Waste Water Treatment Plant. 

On June 2, 20 I 6, the City entered into an agreement with the Kentucky Infrastructure Authority to borrow $406,868 
with an interest rate of 0.75% to be repaid over a twenty-year period, beginning December I, 2018 and maturing June 1, 
2038. The proceeds of this loan were used to fund the City's Waste Water Treatment Plant Sand Filter Replacement 
Project. 

On January 8, 2019, the City entered into an agreement with the Kentucky Infrastmcture Authority to borrow $324,000 
with an interest rate of 3.00% to be repaid over a five-year period from project completion. The proceeds of this loan are 
to fund the planning and design of the Sanitary Sewer Improvements Project. As of June 30, 2020, the City had drawn 
$185,200 of this loan. 
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The Kentucky Infrastrncture Authority Loans outstanding at June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Odginal Maturity Debt 

Issue Interest Date Outstanding 

Issue Amount Rate Fiscal Year June 30, 2020 

KIA Loan (B08-02) 490,000 0.60% 2029 $ 215,443 

KIA Loan (B16-013) 406,868 0.75% 2038 185,754 

KTA Loan (A 19-011) 324,000 3.00% 2025 185,200 

$ 586,397 

The annual principal and interest requirements of the above loans are as follows: 

Year Ending Sewer 

June 30, Princ!eal Interest 

2021 $ 34,457 $ 3,049 
2022 34,678 2,778 
2023 34,901 2,505 
2024 35,126 2,230 
2025 35,352 1,953 

2026-2030 141,029 5,714 
2031-2035 52,931 2,325 
2036-2038 32,723 431 

Total $ 401,197 $ 20,985 

The annual principal and interest requirements for the Kentucky Infrastrncture Authority Loans above do not include 
KIA Loan A 19-011 because the loan has not yet been amortized. As of June 30, 2020, the City has not yet drawn 
$ I 38,800 of the funds available for the project. 

Certain Covenants contained in the above loan agreements are as follows: 

1) The City shall maintain service charges for water and sewer activities sufficient to pay the Authority the 
minimum sums set forth in the loan agreement. 

2) The City shall place $4,750 into a "replacement reserve account" on or before December 1 of each year. These 
annual deposits are to be made until the balance reaches $39,073 and maintained for the life of the loan. The 
final paymert was made October 1, 2007. 

3) The City shall place $1,000 into a "replacement reserve account" on or before December 1 of each year, 
beginning December 1, 2018. These annual deposits are to be made until the balance reaches $10,000 and 
maintained for the life of the loan. 

4) The City shall maintain a 1.1 debt service coverage ratio throughout the life of KIA Loan Al 9-011. 
5) Other miscellaneous provisions. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the City is in substantial compliance with all covenants and provisions of the 
KIA loan agreements. 

These loans are subordinate to any previous debt of the City, including U.S. Depa11ment of Agriculture Rural 
Development Debt. 

Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation Loan - Water Fund 

The City entered into a loan agreement with Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation in an amount not to exceed 
$4,500,000 to serve as interim financing to fund a portion of the Water Treatment Plant Project discussed in Note L. 
The Loan bears interest at 3.40% and matures May I, 2021. The KRWFC Loan will be refunded with pennanent 
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financing from Rural Development at the completion of the project. As of June 30, 2020, the City has drawn 
$3,634,616 of this loan. 

Bank Loans - General Fund 

On November 5, 2019, the City borrowed $100,000 from a local bank for the purpose of remodeling the police station. 
The interest rate on this loan is 3.00%. The loan agreement requires one payment of principal and interest to be paid at 
maturity, which is May 21, 2021. The loan is unsecured. 

Summary of Debt Transactions 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows: 

Beginning Ending Due Within 

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year 

Governmental activities: 
Notes payable - bank $ $ 100,000 $ $ 100,000 $ 100,000 

Governmental activity long-term liabilities $ $ 100,000 $ $ 100,000 $ 100,000 

Business-type activities: 
Revenue Bonds: 

Revenue Bonds-Water Fund $ 3,098,900 $ $ (844,900) $2,254,000 $ 52,000 

Revenue Bonds-Sewer Fwid 546,000 (546,000) 

KLC Bonds-Water Fund 829,400 (33,834) 795,566 70,325 

KLC Bonds-Sewer Fund 600,600 (24,500) 576,100 50,925 

Total Bonds Payable 3,644,900 1,430,000 (1,449,234) 3,625,666 173,250 

KRWFC Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes 48,391 3,586,225 3,634,616 

KIA Loans: 

KIA Loans-Sewer Fund 467,113 153,520 (34,236) 586,397 34,457 

Total KIA Loans 467,113 153,520 (34,236) 586,397 34,457 

Business-type activity long-term liabilities $ 4,160,404 $ 5,169,745 $ (1,483,470) $7,846,679 $ 207,707 

NOTE H - Contingent Liabilities 

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally 
the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the 
applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at 
this time although the government expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

There are no lawsuits or pending litigation that the City believes will have a material effect on its financial statements. 

NOTE I - Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; natural disasters; and workers' compensation claims. Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance 
for all major programs except unemployment compensation and workers' compensation, for which the City retains risk 
of loss. For insured programs, there have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from prior years. Also, 
there have been no settlements exceeding insurance coverage for each of the past three years. The City participates in 
two pooled self-insurance programs sponsored by the Kentucky League of Cities. These include unemployment 
compensation and workers' compensation. 
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NOTE J - Economic Dependency 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, approximately 58% of the water fund's operating revenue was derived from 
two wholesale users. The contract with one of these wholesale users runs through December 31, 2028. The contract with 
the other wholesale user was renewed during 2018 to extend the contract through June 30, 2062. The new agreement 
requires a minimum purchase agreement of 325,000,000 gallons when the new Water Treatment Plant Project 
( discussed in Note L) is substantially completed and placed into service. 

NOTEK-Other 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the City (Lessor) entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky, Department of Corrections, Probation and Parole Division (Lessee) to lease certain premises to the 
Commonwealth in the amount of $39,390 per year. The lease called for automatic extensions annually through June 30, 
2018. On July 11, 2017, the lease was extended to add six automatic annual extension periods through June 30, 2024 in 
the amount of $52,780 annually. 

NOTE L- Commitments 

As of June 30, 2020, there are three major construction projects in progress. 

I. The Water Treatment Plant Project has a budget of $11,732,455. As of Jnne 30, 2020, $5,183,110 had been 
spent on the above project. This project is being funded by the following sources: 

I. Rural Development Loan 
2. Rural Development Grant 
3. ARC Grant 
4. Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loan 
5. Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Grant 3N-2012 
6. Bluegrass Water Supply Commission Grant 

Total Funding 

$ 4,500,000 
1,500,000 

500,000 
4,000,000 
1,132,455 

100 000 
$ 11,732,455 

2. The Sewer Upgrades Project is in the planning and design phase. It is being funded with a planning and design 
loan from Kentucky Infrastmcture Authority (Al 9-011 ). As of June 30, 2020, $264,390 had been spent on the 
project. The Project is expected to be approximately $5,564,800 to be funded by the following sources. 

I. Rural Development Loan 
2. Rural Development Grant or Loan 
3. ARC Grant 
4. CDBG Grant 

Total Funding 

$ 2,918,000 
1,274,200 

372,600 
1,000,000 

$ 5,564,800 

3. The City is in the planning and design stage for water upgrades for a Distillery located in the City. As of June 
30, 2020, $37,500 had been spent on the project. 

NOTE M - Covid-19 Uncertainty 

During 2020, the World Health Organization characterized an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) as a 
pandemic. Multiple jurisdictions in the U.S. have declared a state of emergency, including the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky. As a result of this pandemic, many businesses within the City of Lancaster chose or were forced to discontinue 
operations for a period of time or have had their operations significantly affected by the pandemic. As a result, the City's 
revenue from payroll and net profits license fees is expected to decrease from previous years. In addition, the Governor of 
the Commonwealth of Kentucky issued an executive order on May 8, 2020, restricting the ability of utilities to shut off 
service due to nonpayment. This executive order was rescinded effective November 6, 2020, with the stipulation that 
balances in arrears for services from May 8, 2020 through October 25, 2020 be entered into payment plans with a 
minimum term of six months. As a result of this executive order, water and sewer accounts receivable collections may be 
delayed compared to previous years. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES & CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES­
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Actual Amounls 
Budgeted Amounts (Budgetary 

Original Final Basis) 

Revenues: 

Taxes $ 345,000 $ 345,000 $ 413,202 

Licenc;es & permits 851,500 851,500 R92,421 

Fim;s & forfCiturcs 52,100 52,100 24,208 

Intergovernmental revenues 89,000 89,000 244,740 

Charges for services 499,390 499,390 548,575 

Interest 100 100 130 

Other 187,000 187,000 25,772 

Total rcvcm1cs 2,024,090 2,024,090 2,149,048 

EXPENDITURES: 
Current operating: 

General government 730,250 730,250 742,003 

Public safety 1,237,850 1,237,850 1,342,561 

Capital outlay 240,399 

Total expenditures 1,968,100 1,968,100 2,324,963 

Excess (deficiency) ofrcvcnucs over expenditures before transfers 

and other sources 55,990 55,990 (I 75,915) 

Other fimmcing sources (uses): 
Sale of capital assets 39,425 

Proceeds from note payable 100,000 

Total other sources and uses 139,425 

Excess ( deficiency) revenues over expendihlres 55,990 55,990 (36,490) 

Fund balonccs--bcginning 136,860 136,860 136,860 

Fund balances--ending $ 192,850 $ 192,850 $ 100,370 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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V11riancc with 
Final Budget 

Posilivc (Negative) 

$ 68,202 

40,921 

(27,892) 

155,740 

49,185 

30 

(161,228) 

124,958 

(I 1,753) 

(104,711) 

(240,399) 

(356,863) 

(231,905) 

39,425 

100,000 

139,425 

(92,480) 

$ (92,480) 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MUNICIPAL ROAD AID FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES & CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES­
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Aclual Amounts 

Budgeted Amounts (Budgetary 

Original Final Basis) 

Revenues: 

Municipal road aid $ 69,000 $ 69,000 $ 76,449 

Interest 60 60 230 

Other 50,000 50,000 6,000 

Total revenues 119,060 119,060 82,679 

EXPENDITURES: 
Current operating: 

Public services 118,650 118,650 148,009 

Total expenditures 118,650 118,650 148,009 

Excess (deficiency) revenues over expenditures 410 410 (65,330) 

Fund balances--beginning 216,319 216,319 216,319 

Fund balances--ending $ 216,729 $ 216,729 $ 150,989 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Variance with 

Final Budget 

Positive (Negative) 

$ 7,449 

170 

(44,000) 

(36,381) 

(29,359) 

(29,359) 

(65,740) 

$ (65,740) 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

REQUlRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF 
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 

Last Seven Fiscal Years" 

Hazardous 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

City's _propottion of the net pcn~ion liability 0.046341% 0.048312% 0.050524% 0.055 L65% 0.057857% 0.063241% 0.063241% 

Crty's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 1,280,075 $ 1,168,405 $ 1.130,363 $ 

City's covered employee payroll $ 272,941 $ 263.920 $ 270.473 ' City's share oft111: net pension liability (asset) as a 
percentage ofiL~ covered payroll 468.99% 442.71% 417.92% 

Plan fidueia.iy net position llS a p~enbge of 

the total pcm;ion liability 50.45% 49.26% 58.99% 

Notes: 

Th~ were 110 changes in benefit terms or the size or composition of the population covered by the benefil terms. 

The follo\\ing changes of IIS.'-,7.Jfl1ptions were udoptl!d by the Kentucky R1.1:in,"1m .• -nt System Board ofTrwrtc,.,-s 

for lhe rneasuremea.t]leriod ending Jtme 30, 2019: 

l Payroll growth llssumption was reduced from 3.05% to 2.0%. 

946,598 $ 888,160 $ 

280.732 $ 286,798 $ 

337.19% 309.68% 

53.95% 57.52% 

2. The assumed salary increases range from 3.30% to 10.30% varied by service for .no.nhazardous and ranging from 3.55% to 19.05% 

varicJ by service for hazartlous. 

3. Toe mol'tality I.Ible used for nctive members is PUB-2010 General Mortality table for non-hazardous and PUB-2010 Public 

Safety Mortality table for hazardous, projected \Vith the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement !iC!llc using a ba.~c 

yea.rof2010. 

759,851 

295.943 

256.76% 

63.46% 

4. For healthy rctin:d members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is Syi;tcm-spccific mortality table ba.~cd on mortaliry cxpcricncc from 

2013-2018, pro jeered with ultimate: .rates from MP-2014 mortality 1I1J.provement scale using a base yc:ar of2019. For disabled members, the 

mortality tabk used is PUB-2010 Disablc<l Mortalicy t.abk, with a 4-ycar !'Ct-forward for both male and fi..-malc rates, projccti.."<.! \\itli the 
ultimate rotes from the MP-2014 mortality improvement sea.le using a base yeru: of 2010. 

There were no change~ to plan a~l.llilpt:ion~ for tht: mua!;i.m:mcnt period end mg June 30, 2018. 

The follov.ing changes of assumptions were adopted by the Kentucky Retirement System Board of Trustees 

for th.c measurement period c:nding June 30, 2017: 

I. Tue assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.50% t0 6.25%. 

2. The a.~sum~d nitc of inflation was rc<luccd from 3.25% to 2.30%. 

3. Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.05%. 

There V{crc no change~ to plan assumptions for the mea.~urcmcm period ending June 30, 2016. 

The following cha.ages of assumptions were adopted by the Kenmc]cy Retireme.nr System Board of Trustees 

for the mca,mrcmcnt period ending June 30, 2015: 

l. The assumed invesbnent rate of rt'tnrn was decreased frrun 7. 75% to 7.50%. 

2. The assumed rate of inflation was rcJuccJ from 3.50% to 3.25%. 

3. The assumed rate of wage inflation was red11ced from I.00% to .75%. 

4. Payroll go.,.,.1h assumptioJJ was n:tluCOO from 4.50% to 4.00%. 

5. The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected 

with Scale BB to 2013 (multiplictl by 50% for males and 30% for female~). 

G. for heallhyretired members and beneficiaries. 1he mortality rablel!Sed 1s RP-2000 Cornbmed Mortality Table projected with 
Scale BB to 2013 (s1.'1: back 1 year for females). For disabled mcmbt..n, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table 

projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retireme11L There is some 

margin in the current mortality tables for possible futuro tmprovemcm in mortality rates and that margin will be ri..-vii..-wed again 

wheo lb.e next experience investigation is co.nducted.. 

7. The a.~sumcd rates ofRctin:mcnt, Withdniwal and Disability were updated. to more accurately reflect experience. 

40 

$ 845,582 

$ 320,311 

263.99% 

57.74% 

Non-Hazardous 

2020 20l9 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

0.031426% 0.024901% 0.0]9736% 0.017897% 0.017065% 0.017546% 0.0175-Hio/o 

S2,210,205 $1,516,548 S1,155,210 $ 8131,160 $ 733,532 $ 568,980 $ 642,288 

S 89[,435 ' 794,790 s 613.353 $ 479.474 $ 434.0[2 $ 416,049 ' 402,532 

247.94% 190.!11% 188.34% IR3.78% 169.0J¾ 136.76% 159.56% 

46.63% 53.54% 53.32% 55.50% 59.97% 66.80% 6L.22% 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF PENSION PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS 

Last Eight Fiscal Years 

2020 2019 

Conll""dL"ll.laily required cmplt:iycr contribution 82,046 $ 65,637 

2018 

60,045 

Hazanlou~ 
2017 

60,947 

2016 2015 

58.105 $ 61,349 

2014 2013 

69,732 63,533 

Concnbulions 11:']ntive lo contractually ~quired employer conmbuti 82,046 65,637 60,045 60.947 58,105 ~ 69,732 63,533 

Contribution deficiency (c:w.ccss) , ___ , ____ , ____ , ___ , ___ , ____ , -- , __ _ 
City'., covered employee payroll $ 272,941 $ 263,920 270,473 :$ 280,732 $ 2K6,79R $295,943 $320,311 $316,0RS 

Employer contributions a~ D percentage ofc0Yered·empli,yeep11yr<l 30.06% 24.R7% 22.20% . 21.71% 

Notes: 
There were no chmges in benefit terms or size or composuion of the population ro~-ered by !he benefit terms 
See the pre\-ious page for tbe changes ofassumptfons effecti~·e for the mea.~urement period ended June 30, 2019. 

ContrnL"tuaily required employer contributions exclude the portion ofconcriblitioru; paid to CERS but allocated to 

the i..w;ura.c.cc fund of the CERS. The above contributions only include tho:,c CQ.1:11r1b11tions allocati:tl dirt:ctiy to 
the CERS pcru;ion fund. 

20.26% 20.T.'% 21.77% 20.10% 

41 

2020 2019 

172.047 $ 128.940 

2018 

88,813 

Non-Hazurdous 

2017 2016 

66,887 $ 53,903 

2015 

53,046 

2014 2013 

55.308 $ 53,405 

172.047 128,940 ~ ~ 53,903 53,046 55,308 53.405 

_, ___ , ____ , ____ , ____ , __ -·-- _, __ $ 

R91,435 $ 794,790 $ 613,353 $ 479,474 $434,012 $416,049 $402,532 $423,173 

19.30% 16.22% 14.48% 13.95% 12.42% 12.75% 13.74% 12.62% 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
REQUIREDSUPPLE1\1ENTALSCHEDULEOF 

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPED LIABILITY 
Last Four Fiscal Years* 

Hazardous 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2020 

Cily's proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.046332% 0.0411314% 0.050524% 0.055165% 0.0314111% 

City's proportionale share of the net bPEB liability (nsset) $ 342,793 $ 344,459 $ 417,668 $ 249,572 $ 528,437 

Ci1y's covered employee payroll $ 272,941 $ 263,920 $ 270,473 $ 2110,732 $ 891,435 

City'.~ share of the net OPEB liability (aAAet) as a 

percen1age of its covered payroll 125.59% 130.52% 154.42% 88.90% 59.28% 

Plan fiduciary net po~ition os II percentage of 

the total OPEB liability 64.44% 64.24% 58.99% 53.95% 60.44% 

* The amounts presented for each fiscRl year were determined (measured) ru; of1he previous fisc11\ year. 

Notes: 
There were no changes in benefit tenns or tbe size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 

The following changes of assumptions were adopted by the Kentucky Retirement System Board of Trustees 

for the memmrement period ending Iwte JO, 2019: 

I. Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 3.05% to 2.0%. 

2. The assumed salruy increa1>el! range from 3.30% to 10.30% varied by se1·vice for nonhaz.ardous and ranging from 3.55% to 

19.05% varied by service fol' hazardous. 

3 The healthcare trend rate starting al 7 .00% at January l, 2020, and gradually decm1sing to an uUimate trend 

rate of 4.05% O\'er a period of 12 years for pre-65. The healthcare trend rate starting at 5.00% at Janunry 1, 2020, 

and gradually decl'easing to lU1 ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of IO years for post-65. 

4. The m011alitytable used for active member~ i,,: PUB-2010 General Mortality table for non-hazardous and PUB-2010 Public 

Safety Mortality table for ho.zardom;, rrojecteti with the ultimale rnte.~ from the MP-2014 mortality improvement i;cale 

m;ing a base year of 2010. 

5. For healthy retired members and beneficinries, the mortality tohle used ii; System-specific mor1a1ity table based on mortality 

experience from 2013-2018, projected with ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement see.le u:;ing a base yenr 

of 2019. For disabled members, the mortality table used is PUB-2010 Disabled Mor1elity table, wilh a 4-year set-fof\l'Ord 

for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014mortality improvement scale using a 

base yearof20IO. 

There were no changes to plan assumptions for the mensuremenl period ending June 30, 2018. 

The following changes of assumptions were odopled by the Kentucky Retirement Syl!lem Board of Trustees for the 

measurement period ending June 30, 2017: 

1. TI1e assumed inveslment rate of return was 6.25%. 

2. The assumed rate of inflation was 2.30%. 

3. Paytoll growth assumption was 3 .05%. 

4. The healthcare t:J.eud rate starting at 7.25% at Jrumwy l, 2019, and gradua11y decreasing to en ultimate tl'end 

rate of4.0S% over a period of 13 years forpre--65. The healthcare trend rate starling at 5.10% at Jauuruy 1, 2019, 

ru1d gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 11 years for post-65. 

5. The mortahly table used for ac;tive members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Tableprojec;ted with Scale BB to 

2013 (multiplie<l by 50% for males and 30% for fomales). 

6. for healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table 

projected with Scale BB 10 2013 (set back I year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined 

Disabled Mortality Table projected wi1h Scale BB lo 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after 

disability retirement. There is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible fuh1re improvement in 

mortali1y rates and that margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. 

42 

Non-Hazardous 

2019 2018 2017 

0.024900% 0.019736% 0.0171197% 

$ 442,095 $ 396,761 $ 311,2IO 

$ 794,790 $ 613,353 $ 479,474 

55.62% 64.69% 64.91% 

57.62% 5239% 55.50% 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF OPEB PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS 

Last Four Fiscal Years 

Hazardous 

2020 2019 2018 2017 

Contractually required employer contribution $ 25,984 $ 27,632 $ 25,289 $ 26,248 

Contributions relative to contractually required employer contribution 25,984 27,632 25,289 26,248 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ _$_ $ 

City's covered employee payroll $ 272,941 $ 263,920 $ 270,473 $ 280,732 

Employer contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 9.52% 10.47% 9.35% 

Notes: 

There were no changes in benefit terms or size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 

See the previous page for the changes of assumptions effective for the measurement period ended June 30, 2019. 

Contractually required employer contributions exclude the portion of contributions paid to CERS but allocated to 

the pension fund of the CERS. The above contributions only include those contributions allocated directly to 

the CERS insurance fund. 

43 

9.35% 

Non-Hazardous 

2020 2019 2018 2017 

$ 42,343 $ 41,814 $ 28,828 $ 22,679 

42,343 41,814 28,828 ____lb679 

$ $ $ $ 

$ 891,435 $ 794,790 $ 613,353 $ 479,474 

4.75% 5.26% 4.70% 4.73% 



COMPLIANCE SECTION 



CITY OF LANCASTER 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AW ARDS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2020 

Grant/Program Title 
Federal CFDA 

Number 
Contract 
Number Expenditures 

A. U.S. Department of Transportation: 
Passed through Commonwealth of Kentucky, 
Kentucky Transportation Cabinet: 
Highway Safety Program 
Highway Safety Program 

B. U.S. Department of Agriculture Rural Development: 
Direct 

RUS Loan/Grant 

C. U.S. Department of Homeland Security: 
Passed through Commonwealth of Kentucky, 
Department of Military Affairs Division of 
Emergency Management: 

Hazard Mitigation Grants Program 

D. U.S. Department of the Treasu1y: 
Passed through Commonwealth of Kentucky, 
Department for Local Government: 
Coronavirus Relief Funds for States 

20.600 
20.600 

10.760 

97.039 

21.019 

PT 19-38 
PT 19-20 

FEMA-DR-4216-011 

Lancaster CRF Cl 79 

$ 

$ 

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
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5,707 
881 

6,588 

4,297,751 

4,868 

149,543 

4 458 750 

Passed Through 
To Subrecipients 

$ 

$ 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AW ARDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (schedule) includes the federal award activity of the 
City and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule presents 
only a selected portion of the operation of the City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, 
changes in net position, or cash flows of the City. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance wherein certain types of expenditures are 
not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. The City has elected not to use the 10 percent de-minimis indirect 
cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance. · 
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Governme11t Aud,~ing Standards 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City 
Council 

Lancaster, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Lancaster, Kentucky (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have 
issued our report thereon dated April 15, 2021. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention with those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant 
deficiencies. We consider the following deficiencies to be material weaknesses. 

I. Due to the limited number of employees within the City, there exists a lack of adequate 
segregation of duties related to recordkeeping and custody of assets. Due to the fact that the City 
is not in the financial position to hire additional employees, we recommend that the council 
continue to be involved in the financial review process on an ongoing basis and continue to review 
all procedures to assure that maximum segregation of accounting and asset custodial duties occurs 
whenever possible. 
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2. All transactions should be recorded in the general ledger. The City's transactions are recorded in 
the general ledger for the main operating hank account of each fund. However, there are several 
other hank accounts that have activity that is only tracked through the checkbook and not 
maintained in the general ledger. The City hires an accountant to adjust its books to be in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. During 
this process, summary entries are made to record this activity into the general ledger. During the 
past three years, there has been significantly more activity in these accounts than that of previous 
years and with ongoing projects, the activity will continue to increase. By not appropriately 
maintaining these accounts in the general ledger in detail, activity can be misclassified or not 
recorded in the correct period. It also makes year-end cash to accrual conversions increasingly 
more difficult. During our audit procedures, we proposed multiple audit adjustments for activity in 
these accounts that were not correctly recorded or not included as receivables or payables. The 
adjustments resulted in additions to capital assets of $967,429 that were the result of outstanding 
checks or accounts payable, an understatement of accounts payable of $531,882, an overstatement 
of cash for two outstanding checks of $467,840, and one bank account that was not recorded on 
the City's books totaling $465. We recommend that activity from all bank accounts be recorded in 
the general ledger in detail to ensure that all transactions are appropriately recorded in the correct 
accounts and the correct period. 

Management's Response 
I. Management does not believe the addition of an employee for the purpose of improving 

segregation of duties is cost-beneficial to the City, but will continue to review our procedures to 
assure we segregate duties whenever possible. 

2. Management agrees with the auditor's recommendation and will begin recording the detail activity 
for all bank accounts in the general ledger in a timely manner. 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we perlormed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed the following noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards: 

I. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the City's expenditures exceeded its appropriations in 
the amount of $356,863 in the general fund and $29,359 in the municipal road aid fund. According 
to KRS 91A.030, "No city shall expend any moneys from any governmental or proprietary fund, 
except in accordance with a budget ordinance adopted pursuant to this section". Therefore, the 
expenditures in excess of budget represent a violation of KRS 91A.030. 

City's Response to Findings 
The City's response to the findings identified in our audit is described above. The City's response was not 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal 
control or on compliance. This repmt is an integral pa1t of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Kerbaugh, Rodes & Butler, PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Danville, Kentucky 
April 15, 2021 
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We have audited the City of Lancaster, Kentucky's (the City's) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
the City's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020. The City's major federal programs are 
identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs. 

Management's Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its 
federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City's major federal programs based on our 
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standard,, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniji,,m Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requiremenl,f for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards 
and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City's 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we consldered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. 
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City's compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the City complied, io all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal prngrams for the year ended June 30, 
2020. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. ln planning and performing our audit of compliance, 
we considered the City's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct 
and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test 
and repmt on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over compliance. · 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and c01Tect, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. 
A material weakne,-;s in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than 
a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results· of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Kerbaugh, Rodes & Butler, PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Danville, Kentucky 
April 15, 2021 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Section I-Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor's report issued: 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified that 
are not considered to be material 
weaknesses? 

Noncompliance material to financial 
statements noted? 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified that 
are not considered to be material 
weakness( es)? 

Type of auditor's rep01i issued on 
compliance for major programs: 

Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? 

Identification of major programs: 

Unmodified 

Yes 

None reported 

Yes 

No 

None reported 

Unmodified 

No 

Name of Federal Program or Cluster CFDA Number(s) 

10.760 USDA, Rural Development Water & Waste Disposal Systems 
For Rural Communities Grant and Loan Program 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish 
Between type A and type B programs: 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

50 

$ 750 000 

No 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS-CONTINUED 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

See Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repmting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Pe1formed in Accordance witll Government Auditing Standards 
on pages 46-47. 

Section III- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

No matters were reported. 

Section IV - Prior Year Audit Findings 

Prior year fmancial statement finding related to issues concerning the segregation of duties. Management has 
determined that the addition of an employee(s) to segregate processes would not be cost effective for the City. 
Tllerefore, the finding related to segregation of duties was repeated in the current year audit. 

Prior year financial statement finding related to all checking account activity being maintained in the general ledger. 
Management added one account (ABC account) to track detailed activity in the general ledger system. No other 
accounts were added to the general ledger system. Therefore, the finding related to all activity being maintained in 
the general ledger system was repeated in the current year audit. 
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